South Dakota Board of Education Standards Policy – December 1988 - Revised: 11/15/04, 10/01/2013, 5/15/2017 (effective July 1, 2017), 01/28/2019, 10/25//2021.

South Dakota Board of Education Standards--General

- **1.0** The South Dakota Board of Education Standards (SDCL 1-45-6.1) shall consist of seven members appointed by the Governor, with the advice and consent of the Senate, to four year terms expiring on December 31 of the fourth year. Vacancies arising from reasons other than the natural expiration of a term shall be filled and served only through the unexpired portion of the term.
- **1.1** New Board members shall be provided access to copies of the Board policies, administrative rules and statutes pertaining to education, Board minutes, and the current Educational Directory. A tour and orientation of department facilities shall be arranged at the convenience of new Board members as requested.
- **1.2** The Board may maintain membership in the National Association of State Boards of Education (NASBE). The membership and payment of membership dues shall be reviewed on an annual basis. Members of the Board are encouraged to attend the meetings of NASBE as appropriate.
- **1.3** The law provides for the maximum salary or per diem compensation and allowable expense reimbursement that may be paid to members of the Board (SDCL 4-7-10.4).
- **1.4** Board members shall be eligible for per diem for all Board meetings, committee assignments or educational events when representing the Board. The President must authorize such assignments and attendance at events. All out-of-state travel requests must be approved in advance by the Secretary of the Department of Education ("Secretary"). Per diem payments shall be made as long as budgetary considerations will allow.
- **1.5** The Board shall comply with all open meetings and public records requirements of South Dakota law.

Board Officers

- **2.0** The officers of the Board shall be the President and Vice President. The Secretary shall be the executive officer of the Board.
- **2.1** At the meeting prior to December 31 of each year, the members of the Board shall elect from their members a President and Vice President to serve for a term of one year.
- **2.2** The Secretary shall chair the meeting during the election of officers.

- **2.3** The President shall preside at meetings of the Board. The President shall supervise all business and affairs of the Board unless otherwise delegated to another member or members or to personnel in the Department. The President shall sign such instruments as the Board has authorized to be executed and shall perform all other duties as may be prescribed by the Board.
- **2.4** The President or a designee shall be the spokesperson for the Board. The President may direct the Secretary to issue information or press releases on behalf of the Board.
- **2.5** A majority (four) of Board members shall be a quorum for the transaction of business. To take any official action, the affirmative vote of four members of the Board shall be required.
- **2.6** In the absence of the President, or inability or refusal to act, the Vice President shall perform the duties of the President, and when so acting shall have all the powers of the President. In the absence of the President and the Vice President, the members present shall elect an acting president from the members present to conduct the meeting. The Secretary shall preside over the election.
- **2.7** In the event that an officer cannot serve or is removed from office, the following actions shall occur to assure continuity of leadership of the Board:
- **a.** In the event of a vacancy in the Board presidency, the Vice President fills the unexpired term.
- **b.** In the event of a vacancy in the Board vice-presidency, an election is held at the next meeting of the Board to fill the unexpired term.
- **c.** In the event of vacancies in both the presidency and vice-presidency, the Board shall elect officers at the next meeting to fill the unexpired terms of those offices.
- **d.** A two-thirds majority vote of the Board may remove the President, Vice President, or both from office. The office(s) shall be filled in accordance with the provisions of this section.

Board Meetings

- **3.0** Meetings of the Board shall be conducted pursuant to Robert's Rules of Order Newly Revised (11th ed.) or the most up to date edition, whichever is later, to the extent that these rules are applicable and not inconsistent with Board policies. Regular meetings shall be held no less than four times per calendar year. Special meetings may be held at the call of the President, or in the President's absence a majority of the Board, or at the call of the Secretary.
- **a.** The President, Vice President, or other such member of the Board as may be presiding, may discuss any subject and vote on motions. If the presiding officer wishes to place a motion, the officer must relinquish the chair to another member.
- **b.** Every member desiring to speak shall be recognized by the presiding officer before speaking.

- **c.** A member, once recognized, may not be interrupted while speaking unless it is to call the member to order. If a member is called to order, that member may not speak until the question of order is determined; if found to be in order, the member may proceed.
- **d.** Members may request to have the reason for their votes entered in the minutes.
- **e.** While the Board is in session, the members shall preserve order and decorum, and no member shall by conversation or otherwise delay or interrupt the proceedings of the Board. The members shall observe the rules of procedure specified above.
- **f.** The Secretary or the Secretary's designee shall be the parliamentarian.
- **g.** The above procedures shall apply to all committees of the Board, if any.
- **3.1** The Board year shall begin January 1 and end on December 31. No later than at the last meeting of eachyear, the Board shall schedule a minimum of four regular Board meetings for the coming year. At the first meeting of each year, the Board shall organize by installing officers.
- **3.2** All official acts of the Board relative to motions or rules shall become effective at the time of such passage unless otherwise expressly provided therein.
- **3.3** The amendment of Board policy requires an affirmative vote of at least five Board members.

Executive Officer

- **4.0** The Secretary shall be the executive officer of the Board. The Secretary or the Secretary's designee shall keep accurate minutes of all meetings of the Board and maintain all the records necessary to operate and administer the business of the Board.
- **4.1** The Secretary or the Secretary's designee shall attest to the minutes as a record of the Board meeting.
- **4.2** Notice of all meetings of the Board shall be made by the Secretary or the Secretary's designee by written notice to the media and other persons who have requested such information.
- **4.3** The Secretary or the Secretary's designee shall record all official actions taken at the meetings of the Board.

Procedure For Preparing The Agenda For State Board Meetings

- **5.0** Prior to final preparation of the proposed agenda, items for the agenda and the order of the items on the agenda shall be cleared with the President. The order of the agenda may be rescheduled or added to by action of the Board.
- **5.1** At least seven days prior to the date of the meeting, the proposed agenda, with supplementary material, shall be made available to the members of the Board. Nothing herein shall prevent the

amendment of the agenda or addition of supplementary materials within the time limits allowed in SDCL Chapters 1-25 and 1-27.

Code of Conduct and Conflicts of Interest

6.0 Purpose

The purpose of this code of conduct and conflict of interest policy ("code") is to establish a set of minimum ethical principles and guidelines for members of the Board when acting within their official public service capacity. With the exception of those under the purview of the Unified Judicial System, this code applies to all appointed and elected members of state authorities, boards, commissions and committees,

6.1 Conflict of Interest for Board Members

Board members may be subject to statutory restrictions specific to this board found in state and federal laws, rules, and regulations. Those restrictions are beyond the scope of this code. Board members should contact the appointing authority for this board or the attorney for the Board for information regarding restrictions specific to the Board.

6.1.a General Restrictions on Participation in Board Actions

A conflict of interest exists when a Board member has an interest in a matter that is different from the interest of members of the general public. Examples of circumstances which may create a conflict of interest include a personal or pecuniary interest in the matter or an existing or potential employment relationship with a party involved in a proceeding.

Whether or not a conflict of interest requires a Board member to abstain from participation in an official action shall depend on whether or not the action is administrative, quasi-judicial, or quasi-legislative.

A quasi-judicial official action is particular and immediate in effect, such as a review of a license or permit. In order to participate in a quasi-judicial official action of the Board, a Board member must be disinterested and free from actual bias or an unacceptable risk of actual bias. A Board member must abstain from participation in the discussion and vote on a quasi-judicial official action of the Board if a reasonably-minded person could conclude that there is an unacceptable risk that the Board member has prejudged the matter or that the Board member's interest or relationship creates a potential to influence the member's impartiality.

A quasi-legislative official action, also referred to as a regulatory action, is general and future in effect. An example is rule-making. If the official action involved is quasi-legislative in nature, a Board member is not required to abstain from participation in the discussion and vote on the action unless it is clear that the member has an unalterably closed mind on matters critical to the disposition of the action.

Administrative actions involve the day-to-day activities of the Board. Most of the administrative official actions of the Board are done through the Board's administrative staff. To the extent that Board members are involved, the conflict of interest concern most frequently arises in the area of state contracting which is addressed in more detail in Policy 6.1.b. If issues arise that are not directly addressed by this code, a Board member should consult with the attorney for the Board.

"Official action" means a decision, recommendation, approval, disapproval, or other action which involves discretionary authority. A Board member who violates any of these restrictions may be subject to removal from the Board to which the member is appointed.

6.1.b Contract Restrictions

There are federal and state laws, rules, and regulations that address conflict of interest for Board members in the area of contracts. A Board member may not solicit or accept any gift, favor, reward, or promise of reward, including any promise of future employment, in exchange for recommending, influencing, or attempting to influence the award of or the terms of a state contract. This prohibition is absolute and cannot be waived.

Members of certain Boards are required to comply with additional conflict of interest provisions found in SDCL Chapter 3-23 and are required to make an annual disclose of any contract in which they have or may have an interest or from which they derive a direct benefit. This Board is subject to the requirements of SDCL Chapter 3-23. The restrictions further apply for one year following the end of the Board member's term.¹

Absent a waiver, certain Board members are further prohibited from deriving a direct benefit from a contract with an outside entity if the Board member had substantial involvement in recommending, awarding, or administering the contract or if the Board member supervised another state officer or employee who approved, awarded, or administered the contract. With the exception of employment contract, the foregoing prohibition applies for one year following the end of the Board member's term. However, the foregoing prohibition does not apply to the Board members who serve without compensation or who are only paid a per diem. See SDCL 5-18A-17 to 5-18A-17.6.²

Other federal and state laws, rules, and regulations may apply to specific Boards. For general questions regarding the applicability of SDCL Chapter 3-23 or other laws, a Board member may contact the attorney for the Board. Because the attorney for the Board does not represent the Board member in his or her individual capacity, a Board member should contact a private attorney if the member has questions as to how the conflict of interest laws apply to the Board member's own interests and contracts.

¹ See also the State Authorities/Boards/Commissions page in the Legal Resources section of the Attorney General's website at: http://atg.sd.gov/legal/opengovernment/authorityboardcommission.aspx,

² See also the Conflict of Interest Waiver Instructions and Form on the South Dakota Bureau of Human Resources website at: http://bhr.sd.gov/forms/.

6.1.c Consequences of Violations of Conflict of Interest Laws

A contract entered into in violation of conflict of interest laws is voidable and any benefit received by the Board member is subject to disgorgement. In addition, a Board member who violates conflict of interest laws may be removed from the Board and may be subject to criminal prosecution. For example, a Board member may be prosecuted for theft if the member knowingly uses funds or property entrusted to the member in violation of public trust and the use resulted in a direct financial benefit to the member. See SDCL 3-16-7, 5-18A-17.4 and 22-30-46.

6.1.d Retaliation for Reporting

A Board cannot dismiss, suspend, demote, decrease the compensation of, or take any other retaliatory action against an employee because the employee reports, in good faith, a violation or suspected violation of a law or rule, an abuse of funds, or abuse of authority, a substantial and specific danger to public health or safety, or a direct criminal conflict of interest, unless the report is specifically prohibited by law. SDCL 3-16-9 and 3-16-10.

Board members will not engage in retaliatory treatment of an individual because the individual reports harassment, opposes discrimination, participates in the complaint process, or provides information related to a complaint. See SDCL 20-13-26.

6.2 Anti-Harassment/Discrimination

While acting within their official capacity, Board members will not engage in harassment or discriminatory or offensive behavior based on race, color, creed, religion, national origin, sex, pregnancy, age, ancestry, genetic information, disability, or any other legally protected status or characteristic.

Harassment includes conduct that creates a hostile work environment for an employee or another Board member. This prohibition against harassment and discrimination also encompasses sexual harassment. Sexual harassment includes unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, and other verbal or physical conduct of a sexually harassing nature, when: (1) submission to or rejection of the harassment is made either explicitly or implicitly the basis of or a condition of employment, appointment, or a favorable or unfavorable action by the Board member; or (2) the harassment has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with an individual's work performance or creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive working environment.

Harassment or discriminatory or offensive behavior may take different forms and may be verbal, nonverbal, or physical in nature. To aid Board members in identifying inappropriate conduct, the following examples of harassment or discriminatory or offensive behavior are provided:

Unwelcome physical contact such as kissing, fondling, hugging, or touching;

Demands for sexual favors; sexual innuendos, suggesting comments, jokes of a sexual nature, sexist put-downs, or sexual remarks about a person's body; sexual propositions, or persistent unwanted courting;

Swearing, offensive gestures, or graphic language made because of a person's race, color, religion, national origin, sex, age, or disability;

Slurs, jokes, or derogatory remarks, email, or other communications relating to race, color, religion, national origin, sex, age, or disability; or

Calendars, posters, pictures, drawings, displays, cartoons, images, lists, emails, or computer activity that reflects disparagingly upon race, color, religion, national origin, sex, age, or disability.

The above cited examples are not intended to be all-inclusive.

A Board member who is in violation of this policy may be subject to removal from the Board.

6.3 Confidential Information

Except as otherwise required by law, Board members shall not disclose confidential information acquired during the course of their official duties. In addition, members are prohibited from the use of confidential information for personal gain.

6.4 Reporting of Violations

Any violation of this code should be reporting to the appointing authority for the Board member who is alleged to have violated the code.

(Code adopted from the South Dakota Board of Internal Control Code of Conduct and Conflict of Interest Policy for use by state board members, promulgated in June 2018 pursuant to SDCL 1-56-6.)